SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA CASE NO:SC03-1610

RAYMOND JAMES FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., a Florida corporation and RICHARD VANDENBERG,	: : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :
Petitioners,	: : : :
STEVEN W. SALDUKAS and STESAL INVESTMENTS, LLC., Respondents,	: : :

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS LAKELAND, FLORIDA

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Burton W. Wiand, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 407690 Hala A. Sandridge, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 454362 Fowler White Boggs Banker P.A. Suite 1700 501 E. Kennedy Boulevard Tampa, FL 33601 Attorneys for Petitioners

JURISDICTION

In its briefing order, this Court required the parties to submit merits' briefs, but postponed accepting jurisdiction. This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of the district courts of appeal that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of this Court or another district court of appeal on the same question of law. See Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). In Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. v. Saldukas, 851 So. 2d 853, 858 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District below held that a party alleging that the opposing party has waived its right to arbitrate need not also show prejudice. The Second District's decision -- which does not require a showing of prejudice -- expressly and directly conflicts with the rule of law announced by the First and Third Districts, which require prejudice. Benedict v. Pensacola Motor Sales, Inc., 846 So. 2d 1238, 1240-1241 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); Lane v. Sarfati, 691 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).

The citizens of this State are entitled to the same rule of law, no matter where they reside or in what district they litigate. As it now stands, a party in Tampa receives a different result on identical facts as a party in Miami. This Court should exercise its discretion to resolve this dispute and end this discrepancy.

Once this Court accepts jurisdiction over this case, this Court has jurisdiction over all issues on appeal. See, e.g., Leisure Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc., 654 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1995) (having accepted jurisdiction over a question certified to be of great public importance, the court may review the district court's decision for any error); Jacobson v. State, 476 So. 2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985) (having accepted jurisdiction because of facial conflict between two decisions from district courts of appeal, the court may dispose of the case on grounds other than the conflict grounds).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

On February 20, 2002, Plaintiffs, Steven W. Saldukas ("Saldukas") and Stesal Investments, LLC ("the LCC"), sent a letter to the director of arbitration for the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), seeking to arbitrate claims alleging unsuitable investments with Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. (A1:Ex1)¹ Plaintiffs partially based their claims upon the actions of Richard VandenBerg, a broker Raymond James had employed. (A1:Ex1:4-6) However, Plaintiffs did not demand arbitration with VandenBerg and did not seek relief against him in the arbitration. (A1:Ex1:1)

Raymond James moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' claim before the NYSE. (A1:Ex3) First, Raymond James noted that none of the claims set forth in the arbitration demand related to Saldukas' IRA account or accounts, for which he had signed a customer agreement with an arbitration clause. (A1:Ex3:1) In addition, Raymond James' counsel observed that although the Stesal Investments Limited Partnership had a customer relationship with Raymond James, the LLC did not. (A1:Ex3:1) Raymond James'

 $^{^{\}perp\prime}$ All record references are to the appendix filed with the briefing in the Second District below. The cite will first reference the relevant tab number, then the page number from that tab item. If referring to an exhibit to a tab item, that exhibit will also be referenced, then the page number of that exhibit.

counsel sent a copy of this dismissal motion to Plaintiffs' counsel and threatened to enjoin the arbitration if the NYSE did not grant it. (A1:Ex4) Rather than respond to this dismissal motion, almost four months later, Saldukas and the LLC sued Raymond James and VandenBerg in circuit court, raising the same theories and seeking the same damages as in the NYSE arbitration proceeding. (A1:1)

After receiving this lawsuit, Raymond James and VandenBerg's counsel wrote to Plaintiffs' counsel, stating:

On another note, I was candidly surprised that you filed the lawsuit. As you are fully aware, by letter dated March 15, 2002, I filed with the New York Stock Exchange a motion to dismiss on behalf on Raymond James. I did so because Raymond James never had an account relationship with Stesal My clients fully admit Investments, LLC. that Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership did have an account with Raymond James, and Investments therefore Stesal Ltd. Partnership would have every right to pursue an arbitration claim against my clients.

. .

Had there been an actual name change of Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership to Stesal Investments, LLC, I would have expected that you simply would have filed with the New York Stock Exchange a response to my motion to dismiss, clarifying and reiterating that Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership simply changed its name to Stesal Investments, LLC. ... I also would have expected that you would have responded to my letter to you dated March 15, 2002.

. . .

Please immediately provide me with an explanation as to how, when and where this alleged merger between Stesal Investments Ltd. partnership and Stesal Investments, LLC occurred. ... If you do provide me an explanation as to the alleged merger which appears legitimate and which is supported by documents, then Raymond James has no objection to the New York Stock Exchange arbitration going forward. (A8:ExD)

Once Plaintiffs' counsel received this letter, he spoke to Raymond James' counsel, who memorialized this conversation in a letter stating:

As we discussed earlier today, Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. and Richard VandenBerg are perfectly willing arbitrate with Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership. My clients are not willing to arbitrate with Stesal Investments, unless you provide us with documentation and information to support your allegation that Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership merged into Stesal Investments, LLC. ... Raymond James and Mr. VandenBerg have no problem arbitrating, but they are only willing to arbitrate with the proper party. ... You mentioned that you would speak with your client and then get back to me regarding my proposal to arbitrate. Please contact me as soon as possible to discuss this matter. (A8:ExE)

Despite these requests, Plaintiffs' counsel never provided such documentation. (A8:4) Raymond James and VandenBerg thus moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint on procedural grounds. (A3:1) In their motion to dismiss, Raymond James stipulated to

its willingness to arbitrate and again offered:

Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership has every right to pursue an arbitration claim against Raymond James, and Raymond James is perfectly willing to arbitrate such a claim. Accordingly, the filing of this motion to dismiss should not be construed as a waiver on the part of Raymond James or VandenBerg to move to compel arbitration of any claim legitimately advanced by or on behalf of Stesal Investments Ltd. Partnership. (A3:1:8)

. . .

Defendants have always been willing to arbitrate but only with the proper party. Raymond James moved to dismiss arbitration claim because the claim was being asserted on behalf of an entity with which it has no contractual relationship and no agreement to arbitrate. If there was a legitimate merger, notwithstanding public records to the contrary, then the claim should be arbitrated.

(A3:1:10) Raymond James and VandenBerg filed a memorandum supporting their motion to dismiss. (A6:1) In it, they continued to challenge the procedural posture of the lawsuit. (A6:1-7) Not once did they attack the merits of Plaintiffs' claims. (A6:1-7)

Plaintiffs never withdrew their NYSE demand to arbitrate and the NYSE arbitration proceeding continued. (A8:ExF) On October 11, 2002, the NYSE informed the parties that mediation and the arbitrator selection process were underway. (A8:ExF) Raymond James responded positively to this letter, and agreed to a

specific mediator. (A8:ExG) Raymond James also expressed its preference for the procedure to appointment arbitrators. (A8:ExG)

Several months after a hearing on the motion to dismiss, and while the NYSE proceedings continued without any objection by Plaintiffs, the trial court denied the motion to dismiss, and required Raymond James and VandenBerg to respond to the complaint. (A14:1) Because one of Plaintiffs' memoranda had revealed the LLC was a limited liability company registered in the territory of the Island of Nevis, Raymond James and VandenBerg assumed the allegations regarding the merger were accurate. (A8:5) Raymond James and VandenBerg thus moved to compel arbitration and stay litigation. (A8:1) In their motion, they pointed to the pending arbitration before the NYSE. (A8:5) Reciting the above background, Raymond James explained that it had never objected to arbitrating claims with its actual customers. (A8:2-6)

Not only did Raymond James and VandenBerg move to compel arbitration, the actual arbitration continued. (All:2, 6-7) The NYSE appointed a panel of arbitrators. (All:7) The NYSE also ordered the parties to mediation, which was scheduled for February 21, 2003. (All:7) Raymond James served its discovery requests in the arbitration. (All:7)

On December 6, 2002, the parties held a telephonic hearing before the NYSE. (A9:ExA) During this hearing, the parties agreed to the future procedure on Plaintiffs' arbitration demand. (A9:ExA) The NYSE sent a letter to counsel for the parties, confirming the matters resolved at this hearing and providing a schedule for the arbitration. (A9:ExA) The letter required the parties to submit all discovery requests by February 28, 2003, and to respond to such requests by March 28, 2003. (A9:ExA) The NYSE reserved ruling on Raymond James' dismissal motion to allow Raymond James discovery regarding the alleged merger between the Partnership and LLC. (A9:ExA) Finally, and with agreement of all parties, the NYSE scheduled the arbitration for June 23-27, 2003. (A9:ExA) Raymond James then served its alternative answer and defenses in the NYSE arbitration proceeding. (A11:7)

After the parties received the scheduling order from the NYSE, they filed memorandums of law supporting or opposing the motion to compel arbitration. (A9:1; A10:1; A11:1) In one of its memorandum, Raymond James and VandenBerg commented that the parties were in fact proceeding with the NYSE arbitration. (A11:2) Though Plaintiffs never denied this assertion, they nonetheless argued that Raymond James and VandenBerg had waived the right to arbitrate by acting inconsistent with that right.

(A10:8) According to Plaintiffs, Raymond James had engaged in a "bad faith refusal to arbitrate." (A10:4)

A hearing was held on the motion to compel and stay. (Al6:1-35) At that hearing, Raymond James and VandenBerg's counsel observed that the motion to compel arbitration was essentially moot because the parties were proceeding with arbitration (Al6:7) Nonetheless, the trial court denied Raymond James and VandenBerg's motion to compel and stay. (Al4) The order does not explain the basis for the court's ruling. (Al4) Raymond James appealed that order to the Second District. Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. v. Saldukas, 851 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

The Second District affirmed on the basis that Raymond James and VandenBerg acted inconsistent with their right to arbitrate.

Id. at 856. The court found the evidence sufficient to support a finding that Raymond James and VandenBerg waived their right to arbitrate these claims.

Id. The court specifically focused upon Raymond James's conduct before the NYSE, when it challenged the jurisdiction of the NYSE.

Id. Relying upon Donald & Co. Securities, Inc. v. Mid Florida Community Services, Inc., 620

So.2d 192 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), the court also held that Plaintiffs were not required to establish prejudice for the trial court to find a waiver.

Saldukas, 851 So. 2d at 856. The

court commented that the Fourth and Fifth Districts had concurred that showing prejudice was unnecessary to waive the right to arbitrate. <u>Id.</u> at 857. However, the court recognized that the Third District certified conflict with <u>Donald & Co.</u> <u>Id.</u> The Second District disagreed with the Third District, reasoning that there was no binding federal precedent on the issue and that the rationale behind holding that prejudice is not a required element of waiver was more persuasive. <u>Id.</u> at 857-858.

In a concurring opinion, Judge Canady agreed that the court was bound by its prior precedent, but expressed concern whether the court would adopt the <u>Donald & Co.</u> rule if the issue were a matter of first impression before it. <u>Id.</u> at 859. Judge Canady noted that the weight of authority required prejudice to waive the right to arbitrate. <u>Id.</u> Judge Canady lamented that allowing a party to an arbitration agreement to avoid arbitration due to the adverse party's non-prejudicial conduct might unnecessarily undermine the arbitration process. <u>Id.</u>

This timely appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District's decision conflicts with the public policy favoring arbitration. The court created this conflict when it concluded that Raymond James' actions in the NYSE arbitration forum were inconsistent with the right to arbitrate, and thus constituted a waiver of that right.

No case has ever found that a party who solely disputes his duty to arbitrate until he has adequate documentation to support the request is estopped from demanding arbitration. The concept of waiver emanates from acts a party takes that are inconsistent with the right to arbitrate. For instance, Florida courts have found that a party who engages in substantial litigation acts inconsistent with his right to arbitrate. This rule makes sense. Parties agree to arbitrate to avoid the expense and demands of the judicial system. When a party proceeds to litigate, but later demands arbitration, the act of proceeding through the judicial system is a clear waiver of the right to arbitrate.

None of that reasoning applies here. The acts the Second District found inconsistent with the right to arbitrate occurred in the arbitral forum. Moreover, in the arbitral forum, Raymond James merely questioned *via* a motion to dismiss the parties' duty to arbitrate. When Raymond James asked the NYSE to decide

whether it had jurisdiction, it was doing exactly what the parties agreed to do, resolving the dispute outside the judicial system. This Court should hold that a party does not waive his or her right to arbitrate merely because it questioned -- in the arbitrable forum -- the jurisdiction of the arbitrators to resolve the dispute.

Likewise, this Court should adopt a rule of law that requires proof of prejudice before the court will find a waiver of the right to arbitrate. The majority of federal courts require prejudice for waiver to occur, which supports the presumption favoring arbitration. This Court has noted that the federal and Florida arbitration act should be construed consistently. The Second District's decision that prejudice need not be shown creates an untenable conflict between state and federal law and undermines public policy favoring arbitration.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of whether a party's pretrial conduct amounts to waiver of arbitration is purely a legal one. <u>Ivax Corp. v.</u>

<u>B. Braun of Am.</u>, 286 F.3d 1309 (11th Cir. 2002). Because this appeal involves a pure question of law, this Court reviews this matter *de novo*. <u>Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

ARGUMENT

I. RAYMOND JAMES AND VANDENBERG'S CONDUCT WAS CONSISTENT WITH THEIR RIGHT TO ARBITRATE GIVEN THAT RAYMOND JAMES AND VANDENBERG ACKNOWLEDGED THEIR DUTY TO ARBITRATE WITH THOSE PERSONS AND/OR ENTITIES WITH WHOM THEY HAD A CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE, AND NEVER ACTIVELY LITIGATED THE MERITS OF PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS.

In its opinion, the Second District focused on Raymond James' position in the NYSE proceeding that the existing documents did not show it had a duty to arbitrate. From this conduct, the court concluded Raymond James acted inconsistent with its right to arbitrate. The court overlooked the undisputed fact that from the time Plaintiffs filed their NYSE arbitration demand, Raymond James recognized its duty to arbitrate. Raymond James never denied its obligation to arbitrate; rather, it agreed to arbitrate if there was an agreement to arbitrate.

Although the Partnership had an account agreement with Raymond James, the LLC, not the Partnership, demanded

VandenBerg did not take any actions whatsoever in the NYSE proceedings because he was never a party to it. Even so, the Second District refused to address whether VandenBerg acted inconsistent with the right to arbitrate because, it concluded, this issue had been waived. The Second District's holding on this point is puzzling. VandenBerg was a party to the motion to compel arbitration and stay the litigation, and argued that he did not take acts inconsistent with the right to arbitrate. This issue was properly preserved for appeal.

arbitration. While the LLC alleged that it was formerly known as the Partnership, Raymond James simply asked for documents to prove this merger before it agreed to arbitrate. In document after document, letter after letter, Raymond James persistently requested Plaintiffs' counsel to provide this proof so that Raymond James could determine the validity of the LLC's demand for arbitration. Plaintiffs' counsel never responded to any of these requests.

The Second District presumably found these facts irrelevant to the waiver determination, but was instead swayed by the fact that Raymond James sought to have the arbitration proceeding dismissed and threatened to file a lawsuit. In its opinion, the court stated:

If Raymond James was truly trying to preserve this right, it could have raised the standing issue in its answer to the arbitration claim and asked the arbitration panel to determine standing before proceeding to the merits of the case. Instead, Raymond James actively sought to avoid having the arbitrators consider either the standing issue or the merits of the case.

The Second District's analysis is nothing short of startling.

The court has held that by filing a motion to dismiss (rather than an answer) in the arbitration, and asking the NYSE to consider whether the matter was arbitrable, Raymond James somehow acted inconsistent with its right to arbitrate. There

is simply no authority to support the Second District's conclusion that asking the arbitration forum to resolve arbitrability issues constitutes a waiver of that right.

Nor does Raymond James' threat to file a lawsuit equate to waiver. Threats to file a lawsuit are not acts inconsistent with the right to arbitrate. Executive Life Insurance Co. v. John Hammer & Assoc., 569 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) citing Mitlon Schwartz & Assoc., Architects v. Magness Corp., 368 F. Supp. 749 (D.Del. 1974). Equally important, these alleged "threats" must be taken in the overall context of the dispute. Raymond James agreed that it would arbitrate if the proper documentation was produced.

Despite the Second District's statement that Raymond James "unequivocally refused to arbitrate the claim with Saldukas and Stesal LLC," Raymond James did not file a lawsuit to enjoin the arbitration, but stated it would arbitrate with both parties if the proper documents were produced. Indeed, the only party that ignored the duty to arbitrate was the Plaintiffs, who filed a lawsuit when the arbitration was pending.

Case law certainly supports Raymond James and VandenBerg's position that their acts were consistent with the right to arbitrate. To prove waiver, Plaintiffs must show that Raymond James and VandenBerg actively participated in litigation or took

acts inconsistent with the right to arbitrate. <u>Klosters Rederi A/S v. Arison Shipping Co.</u>, 280 So. 2d 678, 681 (Fla. 1973)("a party's contract right may be waived by actively participating in a lawsuit or taking action inconsistent with that right."). There is simply no case law to support the Second District's conclusion that asking the arbitrators to resolve the arbitrability issue is an act inconsistent with the right to arbitrate. To the contrary, the United States Supreme Court has endorsed arbitrators resolving their own jurisdiction when the parties have empowered them to do so. <u>First Options v. Kaplan</u>, 514 U.S. 938, 943 (1995).

Besides, while the Second District recognized that any doubts concerning whether a waiver has occurred should be resolved in favor of arbitration, Raymond James Fin. Servs. v. Saldukas, 851 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) citing Prudential Sec., Inc. v. Katz, 807 So. 2d 173, 174 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), it overlooked the correlating principle that the waiver determination should be made viewing the totality of circumstances. Ivax Corp. v. B. Braun of Am., 286 F.3d 1309 (11th Cir. 2002). Here, the totality of the circumstances does not support a waiver. From the inception of the arbitration proceeding, Raymond James agreed it had a duty to arbitrate, its only limitation was that it requested documents

to show that the party requesting arbitration had the right to do so. When these acts are viewed with all of its other acts, Raymond James' actions are not inconsistent.

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