SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA CASE NO: SC03-1610

RAYMOND JAMES FIN	ANCIAL	:
SERVICES, INC.,	a Florida corporatio	on :
and RICHARD VANDEN	NBERG,	:
		:
	Petitioners,	:
		:
v.		:
		:
STEVEN W. SALDUKA	S and	:
STESAL INVESTMENT	rs, LLC.,	:
		:
	Respondents.	:

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS LAKELAND, FLORIDA

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Christopher T. Vernon Florida Bar No. 0748110 Benjamin C. Iseman Florida Bar No. 0194506 Treiser, Collins & Vernon 3080 Tamiami Trail East Naples, Florida 34112 Telephone (239) 649-4900

Facsimile (239) 649-0823

Attorneys for Respondent

F. Paul Bland, Jr.

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

The U.S. Supreme Court has made clear, however, that the FAA does not require that arbitration clauses receive more favorable treatment than other contact terms: "[T]he purpose of Congress in 1925 was to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, *but not more so.*" *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n. 12 (1967) (emphasis added). The Supreme Court has pointed to the FAA's legislative history in reaching this conclusion. "The

House Report accompanying the Act makes clear that its purpose was to place an arbitration agreement 'upon the same footing as other contracts, where it belongs.'" *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 219 (1985), citing H.R. Rep. No. 96, 68th Cong., 1st Sess. 1 (1924).⁴

Despite the Supreme Court's holdings in *Prima Paint* and *Dean Witter*, Defendants' theory is that this Court should make it harder for a party to waive the right to arbitrate than to waive other contractual rights. Even though other contractual rights can be and often are waived without any showing of prejudice, Defendants assert that a stricter standard applies to the waiver of the right to arbitrate. This is contrary to the direct language of *Prima Paint*. In addition, the Supreme Court very recently rejected an analogous theory. In *Equal Employment Opportunity Comm'n v. Waffle House, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 279 (2002), the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals had enforced an arbitration clause between an employer and a cook against a federal agency, even though that agency had not been a party to the contract. The Fourth Circuit reached this conclusion (which is plainly at odds with normal contract principles) because it believed this result was required by "the policy goals expressed

⁴ See also Levitan v. Fanfare Media Works, Inc., 2003 WL 21028339, at *6 (Cal. Ct. App. May 8, 2003) (California's common law waiver analysis escapes preemption by the FAA because waiver rules are "generally applicable" to all contracts, within the meaning of the FAA).

in the FAA. . . . " Waffle House, 534 U.S. at 284. The U.S. Supreme Court flatly rejected this approach as "inconsistent with our recent cases," explaining that those recent cases had held that "[t]he FAA directs courts to place arbitration agreements on equal footing with other contracts. . . ." Id. at 293 (citations omitted).

Defendants ask this Court to side with several federal courts of appeal and hold that it is harder to establish that a party has waived an arbitration clause than it is to establish a waiver of any other contract right. While Defendants do not clearly say so, in seeking to apply federal law in the place of state law, they are actually asking this Court to hold that the FAA preempts and overrides Florida's generally applicable law of contract waivers. Defendants, however, fail to acknowledge what state law they would like preempted, and fail to enunciate any theory of preemption.

The first step in any preemption analysis is to recognize that state law principles may not be lightly set aside. *See Medtronic v. Lohr*, 518 U.S. 470, 485 (1996) (a party seeking preemption of state law bears a heavy burden of overcoming the long-standing "presum[ption] that Congress does not cavalierly pre-empt state-law causes of action."). In all preemption cases, a court must start with an assumption "that the historic police powers of the States were not to be superseded by the Federal Act unless that was the clear and manifest purpose of Congress." *Id.* (citing *Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp.*, 331 U.S. 218, 230 (1947)). *See also Hernandez v. Coopervision*,

Inc., 661 So.2d 33, 34-35 (Fla. DCA 2d 1995) ("[T]here is a long-standing presumption against federal preemption of the exercise of the power of the states. Thus, the party claiming preemption bears the burden of proof and must establish that Congress has clearly and unmistakably manifested its intent to supersede state law.") (citations omitted).

The second step is to identify the type of federal preemption at issue and the applicable standard. There are three situations in which federal law preempts state law: where there is an express statutory provision preempting state law; where Congress intended for federal law to "occupy the field"; or where "it is impossible for a private party to comply with both state and federal law." Crosby v. National Foreign Trade Council, 530 U.S. 363, 372 (2000). In this context, as the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized, "[t]he FAA contains no express pre-emptive provision, nor does it reflect a congressional intent to occupy the entire field of arbitration." Volt Info. Sciences, 489 U.S. at 477. Therefore, the FAA can only displace state law through the third type of preemption identified in *Crosby*, which is typically termed implied conflict preemption. *Id.* at 477-78. In order to establish that the FAA impliedly preempts Florida's contract law relating to the waiver of contracts, Defendants must demonstrate that there is an "actual conflict" between federal and state law, either because it is "impossible for a private party to comply with both . .

. requirements" or because the state laws "stand[] as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of full purposes" of Congress. *Freightliner Corp.* v. *Myrick*, 514 U.S. 280, 287 (1995) (citations omitted). Implied conflict preemption cannot lie here because the FAA contains no independent rules of federal law for governing the waiver of contract terms.

There can also be no claim of conflict preemption because the FAA contains a savings clause that subjects arbitration clauses to the same state contract laws that apply to other types of contracts. 9 U.S.C. § 2. The U.S. Supreme Court and other courts have repeatedly held that under this savings clause, defenses to the enforcement of arbitration clauses are governed by state, not federal, contract law except in those instances where state contract laws target arbitration clauses for treatment that is inferior to other types of contracts. Indeed, the Supreme Court has noted that the primary sources of protection for consumers against corporate over-reaching in cases governed by the FAA are the rules and requirements of state contract law.⁵

⁵ See, e.g., Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265, 281 (1995) ("In any event, § 2 gives States a method for protecting consumers against unfair pressure to agree to a contract with an unwanted arbitration provision. States may regulate contracts, including arbitration clauses, under general contract law principles and they may invalidate an arbitration clause 'upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of *any* contract.'") (citation omitted).

B. GENERALLY APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF FLORIDA CONTRACT LAW DO NOT REQUIRE A SHOWING OF PREJUDICE TO ESTABLISH THE WAIVER OF CONTRACTUAL RIGHT.

According to generally applicable principles of Florida contract law, prejudice is not a prerequisite to a finding of waiver. In its discussion of the waiver doctrine, this Court has never mentioned prejudice as an element of waiver. This Court has defined waiver as "the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right, or conduct which implies the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right."

Major League Baseball v. Morsani, 790 So.2d 1071, 1077 n.12 (Fla. 2001); see Gilman, 22 So.2d at 265. This doctrine applies broadly to all rights – contractual, statutory and constitutional. See Gilman, 22 So.2d at 265. Defendants ask this Court to expand upon this traditional formulation, and to add prejudice as a new element.

In the context of contractual arbitration clauses, this Court has further stated that a party's contractual right to arbitration "may be waived by actively participating in a lawsuit or taking action inconsistent with that right." *Klosters Rederi A/S v. Arison Shipping Co.*, 280 So.2d 678, 681 (Fla. 1973). In this formulation as well, this Court gave no indication that prejudice was an element of waiver. Importantly, in the *Klosters* case this Court indicated that general principles of Florida contract law provided the rules for decision. *See id.* (emphasizing twice that the issue before it was

the "waiver of any *contractual* right to arbitration" (emphasis added)). Nowhere in its exposition of the principles of waiver has this Court mentioned any need for a showing of prejudice.

It was entirely appropriate that the *Klosters* opinion did not include prejudice in the requirements for a waiver, because as Florida law makes clear, "[w]aiver does not necessarily imply that the person asserting it has been misled to his or her prejudice or into an altered position." Fla. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, § 31; see Taylor v. Kenco Chem. & Mfg. Corp., 465 So.2d 581, 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); see also County of Brevard v. Miorelli Eng'g, Inc., 703 So.2d 1049, 1052 n.4 (Fla. 1997) (Anstead, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) ("unlike waiver 'an essential to estoppel is a reliance on the words or conduct of a party which causes a detrimental change in position for the party so relying") (quoting Taylor, 465 So.2d at 587). This is because the determination of whether a waiver has occurred turns on the actions of the party doing the waiving, not on the reaction of the party toward whom that waiver is directed. See Fla. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, § 31, Am. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, § 36. This law is entirely consistent with this Court's definition of waiver in Klosters, that a waiver of a party's right to arbitration occurs when that party takes actions inconsistent with that right. 280 So.2d at 681. Whether prejudice has resulted, however, depends not on the words or actions of the waiving party but on how those

words and actions are perceived by the opposing party. See Fla. Jur. 2d Estoppel and Waiver, § 31. Thus, prejudice is not an element of waiver under standard principles of Florida law.

Florida's generally applicable law of waiver is in accord with the traditional and normal contract law in numerous other states. See, e.g., Best Place, Inc. v. Penn America Ins. Co., 920 P.2d 334, 353 (Haw. 1996) ("Waiver encompasses either an express or implied voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known and existing right. Waiver is essentially unilateral in character, focusing only upon the acts and conduct of the insurer. Prejudice . . . or detrimental reliance is *not* required.") (citation omitted); City of Glendale v. Coquat, 52 P.2d 1178, 1180 (Ariz. 1935) ("[W]aiver depends upon what one himself intends to do, regardless of the attitude assumed by the other party, whereas estoppel depends rather upon what the other party has done. Waiver does not necessarily imply that the other party has been misled to his prejudice. . . . "); Cole v. Colorado Springs Co., 381 P.2d 13, 17 (Colo. 1963) (same, adopting language from Glendale); Farm Bureau Mutual Auto. Ins. Co. v. Houle, 102 A.2d 326, 330 (Vt. 1954) ("A waiver does not necessarily imply that one has been misled to his prejudice or into an altered position."); Brown v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 776 S.W.2d 384, 387 (Mo. 1989) (same, quoting Farm Bureau); Potesta v. U.S.F. &G. Co., 504 S.E.2d 135, 143 (W.Va. 1998) (same); Royal Air Properties, Inc. v. Smith, 333 F.2d 568, 571 (9th Cir. 1964) ("[N]o detriment to a third party is required for waiver, it is unilaterally accomplished."). See also Cabinetree, 50 F.3d at 390 ("[I]n ordinary contract law, a waiver normally is effective without proof of consideration or detrimental reliance. E. Allen Farnsworth, Contracts § 8.5 (2d ed. 1990); 3A Arthur Linton Corbin, Corbin on Contracts § 753 (1960). . . .").

If this Court were to create a new requirement that prejudice be proven as an element of establishing a waiver, this would distort Florida's waiver doctrine by removing intent as the critical factor. Under Defendants' proposed re-interpretation of the law of waiver, a party can intentionally relinquish a known right – in fact (as in this case) a party could state expressly that it will not enforce such a right – and yet that express statement would not create a waiver until the time that prejudice resulted. In essence, Defendants' interpretation would permit a party to voluntarily retract its expression of intent not to enforce a contractual right to arbitration as long as the retraction did not prejudice the opposing party. Such an interpretation, however, contravenes settled principles of Florida contract law which hold that "[w]hen a party waives a right under a contract he cannot, without the consent of his adversary, reclaim it." Thomas N. Carlton Estate v. Keller, 52 So.2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1951); 28 Am. Jur. 2d. Estoppel and Waiver, § 156 (1966). See also Bared and Co. v. Specialty Maintenance and Construction Co., Inc., 610 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) ("One who intentionally relinquishes a known right cannot, without consent of his adversary, reclaim it, for it is well settled that a waiver once made is irrevocable. . . . And once a right is waived the waiver cannot be withdrawn. . . ."); *Am. Bankers Ins. Co. Of Florida v. Terry*, 277 So.2d 563, 564 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973) ("Once the insurer waives the giving of proof of loss, such waiver is irrevocable."); *Employers' Liab. Assur. Corp. v. Royals Farm Supply, Inc.*, 186 So.2d 317, 320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966) (same).

The bottom line is that in attempting to rewrite Florida law by inserting a prejudice requirement into the waiver doctrine, Defendants ask this Court to uproot

⁶ The rule that waivers of contractual rights are irrevocable is a standard generally applicable rule of law throughout the nation. See, e.g., Ins. Corp. of Ireland, Ltd. v. Bd. of Trustees of S. Ill. U., 937 F.2d 331, 337 (7th Cir. 1991) ("ICI's waiver of its defenses to coverage was irrevocable"), citing Tri-City Jewish Center v. Blass Riddick Chilcote, 512 N.E.2d 363, 366 (III. Ct. App. 1987); First Ala. Bank of Montgomery v. First State Ins. Co., 899 F.2d 1045, 1064 (11th Cir. 1990) ("The fact that a subsequent letter . . . contains nonwaiver language does not work to reverse the waiver because a waiver is irrevocable and cannot be recalled."), citing Franklin v. All States Life Ins. Co., 195 So.230, 231 (Ala. 1940), and two other cases; Salerno v. Western Cas. & Sur. Co., 336 F.2d 14, 19 (8th Cir. 1964) ("waiver of non-coverage, once effected, is irrevocable") (citation omitted, applying Missouri law); Doan v. Fort Wayne, 247 N.E.2d 544, 548 (Ind. Ct. App.), superseded by Doan v. City of Ft. Wayne, 252 N.E. 2d 415 (Ind. 1969) ("In the absence of consent, the waiver may not be reclaimed and is thus irrevocable, even in the absence of . . . any change in position of the party in whose favor the waiver operates."); Pokorny v. Pecsok, 364 N.E.2d 241, 244 n.2 (Ohio 1977) (same); State ex rel. Johnson v. Indep. Schl. Dist. No. 810, 109 N.W.2d 596, 602 (Minn. 1961) ("when once established [a waiver] is irrevocable, even in the absence of consideration therefor.").

fundamental precepts of generally applicable contract law. This the Court should not do.

- C. THE MORE PERSUASIVE FEDERAL AND STATE AUTHORITIES AGREE THAT A SHOWING OF PREJUDICE IS NOT REQUIRED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT A PARTY HAS WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO ARBITRATE.
 - 1. Persuasive Federal Authorities Support the Plaintiffs Here.

Defendants note that the majority of federal courts of appeal to consider the question have found that a showing of prejudice is required to establish that a party has waived its contractual right to arbitrate. Brief at 19. Defendants basically assume that if a position is that of the majority of federal courts of appeal, that it is therefore the correct statement of federal law. Brief at 21-22. This bean counting approach to federal law is simply wrong. Defendants confuse the methods of opinion pollsters with the principled approach of legal reasoning. Where the U.S. Supreme Court has not spoken to an issue of federal law, this Court has a constitutional responsibility to independently evaluate questions of federal law. If this Court finds that the position adopted by the majority of lower federal courts is not consistent with the language of the FAA itself and the U.S. Supreme Court's interpretation of the FAA, then this Court should adopt the position of the minority of federal courts.

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